# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-8-2013

# Groves v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41328

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 17, 2000, the Appellant was convicted of the felony charge of Lewd Conduct with a Minor under Sixteen, Idaho Code Section 18-1508, in Jerome County Case No. CR-2000-16. The Judgment of Conviction was entered on July 17, 2000. (R. pp. 20-28.) At the time of sentence the Appellant was notified of his duty to register as a sex offender. After completing the Rider Program, the Appellant on January 22, 2001, was placed on probation for a period of ten (10) years. The Appellant was discharged from probation on July 7, 2011.

At the time of entry of the Judgment of Conviction, Idaho Code Section 18-8303 did not contain a definition nor did it refer to the term of "Aggravated Offense". The term and definition for Aggravated Offense was not added until July 1, 2001, and this term was later further amended effective July 1, 2009.

On February 8, 2013, the Appellant filed a Petition to be Released from Registration Requirements pursuant to Idaho Code Section 18-8310. (R. pp. 4-5.) The Petition was supported by an Affidavit of the Appellant. (R. pp. 6-10.)

On February 12, 2013, the District Court entered an Order Denying Hearing and to Show Cause Re: Dismissal of Petition to be Released from Registration Requirements. (R. pp. 11-28.) The Order to Show Cause was issued because on the fact of the Judgment of Conviction, the offense of which the Appellant was convicted as an Aggravated Offense based on the definition effective July 1, 2009 and as such the Appellant did not qualify for the relief sought. On February 26, 2013, the Appellant filed his Response and an Amended Petition and Affidavit to be Released from Registration Requirements. (R.

pp. 29-40.) The Appellant in his response sought to challenge the constitutionality of the amendment of Idaho Code Section 18-8303(1).

On February 28, 2013, the District Court entered its order setting a hearing to determine the constitutionality of the subject amendment of Idaho Code Section 18-8303(1) as concerns the Appellant's Petition to be released from the sex offender registration requirements. (R. pp. 41-43.)

Appellant filed a Legislative History of Idaho Code Section 18-8303 on or about May 6, 2013 (R. pp. 53-60) and a Memorandum in Support of Release from Registration on or about May 24, 2013. (R. pp. 63-78) The State filed a Memorandum in Opposition on or about May 29, 2013. (R. pp. 79-91) with the Appellant filing a Reply Memorandum on or about June 7, 2013. (R. pp. 92-99.)

On June 12, 2013, the District Court issued a Memorandum Decision Re:

Constitutionality of 2009 Amendment to Idaho Code Section 18-8303(1) and Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice. (R. pp. 100-118.) Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 119-121.)

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Memorandum Decision Re: Constitutionality of 2009

Amendment to Idaho Code Section 18-8303(1) and Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice entered by the Honorable John K. Butler on or about June 12, 2013, finding that the 2009 amendment to SORA was constitutional and otherwise enforceable as to the Appellant because the Appellant was convicted of an "aggravated offense", and further finding that the Appellant was not entitled (had no standing) to petition for release from the sex offender registration requirements.

## **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- (1) Whether the Court erred in summarily dismissing the Appellant's Petition on the basis that a retroactive application of SORA amendments did not violate the ex post facto clauses of the United States and Idaho Constitutions;
- (2) Whether the Court erred in failing to grant the Appellant an evidentiary hearing thereby violating Appellant's right to due process to be given an opportunity to be heard relative to the punitive nature of the SORA amendments;

#### **ARGUMENT**

Given that the majority of this Brief focuses on Idaho Code Sections 18-8310 and 18-8303, it is important for the Court to understand the legislative history of those two Code Sections. Therefore, the Appellant respectfully submits the following legislative history in that regard. In addition, the Appellant asks that this Court take judicial notice, in particular, of the case of *State v. Doe A*, 297 P.3d 885 (Alaska 2013) (wherein the Supreme Court of Alaska found that ASORA was punitive, and that its retroactive application therefore violated the Ex Post Facto Clause of the Alaska Constitution.) as strongly suggestive of the Appellant's stance in this case.

#### **LEGISLATIVE HISTORY**

Effective July 1, 1998, ID LEGIS 411 (1998), more commonly known as the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act, went into effect. At that time Idaho Code Section 18-8310 read as follows:

18–8310. RELEASE FROM REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS —EXPUNGEMENT.

- (1) Any person, other than one designated as a violent sexual predator, may, after a period of ten (10) years from the date the person was released from incarceration or placed on parole, supervised release or probation, whichever is greater, petition the district court for a show cause hearing to determine whether the person shall be exempted from the duty to register as a sexual offender. In the petition the petitioner shall:
  - (a) Provide clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner is not a risk to commit a new violation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code;
  - (b) Provide an affidavit indicating that the petitioner does not have a criminal charge pending nor is the petitioner knowingly under criminal investigation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code;

- (c) Provide proof of service of such petition upon the county prosecuting attorney for the county in which the application is made; and
- (d) Provide a certified copy of the judgment of conviction which caused the petitioner to report as a sexual offender.

The district court may grant a hearing if it finds that the petition is sufficient. The court shall provide at least sixty (60) days prior notice of the hearing to the petitioner and the county prosecuting attorney.

The court may exempt the petitioner from the reporting requirement only after a hearing on the petition in open court and only upon proof by clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner is not a risk to commit a new violation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code.

(2) Concurrent with the entry of any order exempting the petitioner from the reporting requirement, the court may further order that any information regarding the petitioner be expunged from the central registry.

The Legislature amended Idaho Code Section 18-8310 in 2000 which had the effect of excluding a *recidivist* from release from registration requirements. As of the time of this amendment, Appellant's right to be free from registration had not been substantially interfered with. Idaho Code Section 18-8310 was amended in 2000 to read as follows (amended section only, effective July 1, 2000):

18–8310. RELEASE FROM REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS—EXPUNGEMENT.

(1) Any person, other than <<-one->> <<+a recidivist or an offender+>> designated as a violent sexual predator, may, after a period of ten (10) years from the date the person was released from incarceration or placed on parole, supervised release or probation, whichever is greater, petition the district court for a show cause hearing to determine whether the person shall be exempted from the duty to register as a sexual offender. In the petition the petitioner shall:

The Legislature amended Idaho Code Section 18-8310 again in 2001 which had the effect of excluding an offender who has been convicted of an aggravated

offense. This Amendment created a new classification of sex offenders. At the time of this Amendment, the Appellant's right to be free of registration had not been substantially affected because the victim of his crime was twelve (12) years of age at the time of the commission of the offense. Idaho Code Section 18-8310 was amended in 2001 to read as follows (amended section only, effective July 1, 2001):

18–8310. RELEASE FROM REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS—EXPUNGEMENT.

(1) Any person, other than a recidivist<<+, an offender who has been convicted of an aggravated offense,+>> or an offender designated as a violent sexual predator, may, after a period of ten (10) years from the date the person was released from incarceration or placed on parole, supervised release or probation, whichever is greater, petition the district court for a show cause hearing to determine whether the person shall be exempted from the duty to register as a sexual offender.

The Statement of Purpose for the 2001 amendment states as follows:

This legislation, in effect, creates a new category of sex offender, that of the aggravated offender. The legislation accomplishes this by defining the term "aggravated offense" in Idaho Code Section 18–8303. Aggravated offenses are those sex crimes which are of a very serious nature.

The legislation also amends Idaho Code Section 18–8310, which provides for the release of sex offenders from registration requirements. The legislation provides that an individual who is convicted of an aggravated offense may not petition a court to be released from the requirement to register as a sex offender.

In addition to the aggravated offense provisions, the legislation also makes a technical correction to Idaho Code Section 18–8304, by deleting language which is confusing, and which does not describe a chargeable offense.

The Legislature's amendment of Idaho Code Sections 18-8310 and 18-8303 now precludes any offender who was convicted of the charge of lewd and lascivious conduct, when the victim is less than twelve (12) years of age. Idaho Code Section

#### 18-8303 was amended to include the definition of an "aggravated offense" as:

"Aggravated offense" means any of the following crimes as set forth in section 18–8304, Idaho Code: 18–1508 (lewd conduct, when the victim is less than twelve (12) years of age); 18–4003(d) (murder committed in the perpetration of rape); 18–6101 (rape, but excluding section 18–6101(1) where the victim is at least twelve (12) years of age or the defendant is eighteen (18) years of age or younger); 18–6108 (male rape); and 18–6608 (forcible sexual penetration by use of a foreign object).

Idaho Code Section 18-8310 was amended again in 2009 to read as follows (effective July 1, 2009):

18–8310. Release from registration requirements—Expungement

- (1) Any person, other than a recidivist, an offender who has been convicted of an aggravated offense, or an offender designated as a violent sexual predator, may, after a period of ten (10) years from the date the person was released from incarceration or placed on parole, supervised release or probation, whichever is greater, petition the district court for a show cause hearing to determine whether the person shall be exempted from the duty to register as a sexual offender. In the petition the petitioner shall:
  - (a) Provide clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner is not a risk to commit a new violation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code;
  - (b) Provide an affidavit indicating that the petitioner does not have a criminal charge pending nor is the petitioner knowingly under criminal investigation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code;
  - (c) Provide proof of service of such petition upon the county prosecuting attorney for the county in which the application is made and upon the central registry; and
  - (d) Provide a certified copy of the judgment of conviction which caused the petitioner to report as a sexual offender.
- (2) The district court may grant a hearing if it finds that the petition is sufficient. The court shall provide at least sixty (60) days' prior notice of the hearing to the petitioner, and the county prosecuting attorney and the central registry. The central registry may appear or participate as a party.

- (3) The court may exempt the petitioner from the reporting requirement only after a hearing on the petition in open court and only upon proof by clear and convincing evidence and upon written findings of fact and conclusions of law by the court that:
  - (a) The court has reviewed the petitioner's criminal history and has determined that petitioner is not a recidivist, has not been convicted of an aggravated offense or has not been designated as a violent sexual predator; and
  - (b) The petitioner is not a risk to commit a new violation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code.
- (4) Concurrent with the entry of any order exempting the petitioner from the reporting requirement, the court may further order that any information regarding the petitioner be expunged from the central registry.

#### Idaho Code Section 18-8303 was also amended to read as follows:

"Aggravated offense" means any of the following crimes as set forth in section 18–8304, Idaho Code: 18–1506A (ritualized abuse of a child); 18–1508 (lewd conduct, when the victim is less than twelve (12) years of age); 18–4003(d) (murder committed in the perpetration of rape); 18–4502 (first-degree kidnapping committed for the purpose of rape, committing an infamous crime against nature, committing any lewd and lascivious act upon any child under the age of sixteen years or for purposes of sexual gratification or arousal); 18–4503 (second degree kidnapping where the victim is an unrelated minor child and the kidnapping is committed for the purpose of rape, committing an infamous crime against nature, committing any lewd and lascivious act upon any child under the age of sixteen years or for purposes of sexual gratification or arousal); 18–6101 (rape, but excluding section 18–6101(1) where the victim is at least twelve (12) years of age or the defendant is eighteen (18) years of age or younger); 18–6108 (male rape); and 18–6608 (forcible sexual penetration by use of a foreign object); 18–8602(1) (sex trafficking); and any other offense set forth in section 18-8304, Idaho Code, if at the time of the commission of the offense the victim was below the age of thirteen years.

#### Finally, in 2011, Idaho Code Section 18-8310 was amended to read as

#### follows:

- § 18–8310. Release from registration requirements--Expungement
- (1) Any person Registration under this act is for life; however, any offender, other than a recidivist, an offender who has been convicted of an aggravated offense, or an offender designated as a violent sexual predator, may, after a period of ten (10) years from the date the person offender was released from incarceration or placed on parole, supervised release or probation, whichever is greater, petition the district court for a show cause hearing to determine whether the person offender shall be exempted from the duty to register as a sexual offender. If the offender was convicted in Idaho, the offender shall file his or her petition in the county in which he or she was convicted. If the offender was convicted in a jurisdiction other than Idaho, then the offender shall file his or her petition in the county in which he or she resides. In the petition the petitioner shall:
  - (a) Provide clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner is not a risk to commit a new violation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code has completed any periods of supervised release, probation or parole without revocation;
  - (b) Provide an affidavit indicating that the petitioner does not have a criminal charge pending nor is the petitioner knowingly under criminal investigation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code;
  - (c) Provide proof of service of such petition and supporting documents upon the county prosecuting attorney for the county in which the application is made and upon the central registry; and
  - (d) Provide a certified copy of the judgment of conviction which caused the petitioner to report as a sexual offender;
  - (e) Provide clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner has successfully completed a sexual offender treatment program;
  - (f) Provide an affidavit demonstrating that the petitioner has no felony convictions during the period for which the petitioner has been registered; and
  - (g) Provide an affidavit demonstrating that the petitioner has committed no sex offenses during the period for which the petitioner has been registered.
- (2) The county prosecuting attorney and the central registry may submit

evidence, including by affidavit, rebutting the assertions contained within the offender's petition, affidavits or other documents filed in support of the petition.

- (3) The district court may grant a hearing if it finds that the petition is sufficient. The court shall provide at least sixty (60) days' prior notice of the hearing to the petitioner, the county prosecuting attorney and the central registry. The central registry may appear or participate as a party.
- (4) The court may exempt the petitioner from the reporting registration requirement only after a hearing on the petition in open court and only upon proof by clear and convincing evidence and upon written findings of fact and conclusions of law by the court that:
  - (a) The petitioner has complied with the requirements set forth in subsection (1) of this section;
  - (b) The court has reviewed the petitioner's criminal history and has determined that the petitioner is not a recidivist, has not been convicted of an aggravated offense or has not been designated as a violent sexual predator; and
  - (c) The It is highly probable or reasonably certain the petitioner is not a risk to commit a new violation for any violent crime or crime identified in section 18–8304, Idaho Code.
- (5) Concurrent with the entry of any order exempting the petitioner from the reporting registration requirement, the court may further order that any information regarding the petitioner be expunged from the central registry.

The Legislature's final amendment to Idaho Code Section 18-8303 had the affect of excluding all of those persons who were convicted of lewd and lascivious conduct without reference to the previous exception which would apply should the victim be less than twelve (12) years of age. It is at this time in SORA's history that the Appellant's right to be free from registration was taken from him. The Legislature's final amendment to Idaho Code Section 18-8303 took place in the year 2011, with the Code Section now reading as follows:

#### 18-8303. DEFINITIONS. As used in this chapter:

(1) "Aggravated offense" means any of the following crimes: 18-1506A (ritualized abuse of a child); 18-1508 (lewd conduct); 18-4003(d) (murder committed in the perpetration of rape); 18-4502 (first-degree kidnapping committed for the purpose of rape, committing an infamous crime against nature, committing any lewd and lascivious act upon any child under the age of sixteen years or for purposes of sexual gratification or arousal): 18-4503 (second degree kidnapping where the victim is an unrelated minor child and the kidnapping is committed for the purpose of rape, committing an infamous crime against nature, committing any lewd and lascivious act upon any child under the age of sixteen years or for purposes of sexual gratification or arousal); 18-6101 (rape, but excluding section 18-6101(1) where the victim is at least twelve years of age or the defendant is eighteen years of age); 18-6108 (male rape, but excluding section 18-6108(1) where the victim is at least twelve years of age or the defendant is eighteen years of age); 18-6608 (forcible sexual penetration by use of a foreign object); 18-8602(1) (sex trafficking); and any other offense set forth in section 18-8304, Idaho Code, if at the time of the commission of the offense the victim was below the age of thirteen years or an offense that is substantially similar to any of the foregoing offenses under the laws of another jurisdiction or military court or the court of another country.

## **APPLICATION OF SORA**

An ex post facto law is a law "passed after the occurrence of a fact or commission of an act which retrospectively changes the legal consequences or relations of such fact or deed." *In Re Estate of Blodgett*, 147 P.3d 702, 711 (Alaska 2006) quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 520 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1979). It is the Appellant's contention that the legislative amendments set forth above *substantially* change the legal consequences of his conviction in violation of his constitutional rights.

As the United States Supreme Court set forth in *Collins v. Youngblood*, 497 U.S. 37, 41 (1990) "the constitutional prohibition on ex post facto laws applies only to penal statutes which disadvantage the offender affected by them." If the legislature dubbed the

statute civil but enacted it with the intent to punish, and it would punish with retroactive effect, the law offends the Ex Post Facto Clause. *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 92 (2003).

Whether a law is civil or criminal is a matter of statutory construction. *Id.* In the case of *Doe*, the Court found that Alaska's version of SORA, on its face, created a regulatory mechanism for sexual offender regulation for the legitimate purpose of protecting Alaska's citizens. *Id.* at 93.

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