Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-5-2013

Groves v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41328

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Groves' acknowledges that the Idaho legislature "has attempted to enact a regulatory

scheme that is civil and non-punitive."³ He argues nevertheless that at the time he was sentenced and as the sex offender registration law was written at that time, "he could expect to petition for release from registration after a period of ten (10) years. However, subsequent to his plea and sentencing, the Legislature amended IDAHO CODE §§ 18-8310 and 18-8303 at least twice to create a situation that basically eliminated Petitioner's chance to petition for release from the registration requirements."⁴ The amendments that led to the current IDAHO CODE § 18-8303 and IDAHO CODE § 18-8310 now categorizes IDAHO CODE § 18-1508 as an aggravated offense that precludes release from sex offender registration. Groves argues that the amendments to IDAHO CODE §§ 18-8303 and 18-8310 are punitive and therefore unconstitutional both on their face and as applied to him, and as such, offend the *Ex Post Facto* Clause and are therefore unconstitutional.⁵

Groves maintains that his "primary focus, and allegation of unconstitutionality, rely primarily upon the fact that the State of Idaho *has taken away rights* from him that he previously had the benefit of." (emphasis in Appellant's Brief).

However, this Court is well versed in the amendments to IDAHO CODE §§ 18-8303 and 18-8310 as well as the series of Idaho appellate court cases that have addressed issues involving alleged rights of due process and *ex post facto* challenges to Idaho's sex offender registration laws: *See*, *Ray v. State*, 133 Idaho 96, 100–101, (1999) (holding sex offender registration is not a direct consequence of a guilty plea. The purpose of Idaho's registration statute is not punitive,

³ See, Appellant's Brief, p. 12¶3.

⁴ *Id.*, pp. 1, 5, 6 and 19. ⁵ *Id.* at 11, 19 and 20.

⁶ *Id.*, pp. 5, 6, 10 and 23.

but remedial.); State v. Gragg, 143 Idaho 74, 137 P.3d 461 (Ct.App. 2005) (holding Sexual Offender Registration and Notification and Community-Right-to-Know Act did not constitute ex post facto law; legislature intended the Act as a civil scheme, rather than criminal scheme, and the effects of the Act, which included public access to certain registry information and posting of that information on the internet, were not so punitive as to override the legislative intent.); Smith v. State, 146 Idaho 822, 203 P.3d 1221 (2009) (concluding the duty to register as a sex offender is triggered simply by reason of conviction for a specified crime, but classification as a violent sexual predator ("VSP") is based upon a factual determination of probable future conduct, i.e., that the offender poses a high risk of committing an offense or engaging in predatory sexual conduct.) State v. Johnson, 152 Idaho 41 (2011), determining inter alia, where a legislative restriction is an incident of the state's power to protect the health and safety of its citizens, it will be considered as evidencing an intent to exercise that regulatory power, and not a purpose to add to the punishment; and Bottum v. Idaho State Police, Bureau of Criminal Identification, 154 Idaho 182, 296 P.3d 388 (2013) (concluding . . . the 2009 amendment is expressly declared to be retroactive, we need not address whether applying the amendment to Mr. Bottum would, as he contends, attach a new disability in respect to transactions or considerations already past).

It is worth noting that the Idaho Supreme Court found that "The Court of Appeals opinion in *Gragg* is thoughtful and its holding is correct." *State v. Johnson*, 152 Idaho 41, 45, 266 P.3d 1146, 1150 (2011). *Gragg*, relied heavily on the United States Supreme Court decision in *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S.Ct. 1140 (2003).

Seeing no cogent reason why the Idaho Supreme Court would depart from its' line of reasoning in these cases, including reliance on *Smith v. Doe*, and considering application of the doctrine of *stare decisis*, the SOR will rely upon the same.

a. SORA is retroactive.

The Idaho appellate courts have consistently held that the Sexual Offender Registration Notification and Community Right—to—Know Act (SORA), codified as IDAHO CODE §§ 18-8301 through 18-8326, applies retroactively to persons who had been convicted of specified crimes before the statute was enacted. *See, Ray v. State,* 133 Idaho 96, 982 P.2d 931 (1999); *State v. Gragg,* 143 Idaho 74, 137 P.3d 461 (Ct.App. 2005); *State v. Johnson,* 152 Idaho 41, 266 P.3d 1146 (2011); *Bottum v. Idaho State Police, Bureau of Criminal Identification,* 154 Idaho 182, 296 P.3d 388, 389-390 (2013) (SORA is expressly retroactive, therefore does not violate IDAHO CODE § 73-101).

Groves does not dispute that the holding of *Smith v. Doe* has been reversed or overruled.

<u>b. SORA</u> is not punitive.

In *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S.Ct. 1140 (2003), the United States Supreme Court considered for the first time a claim that a sex offender registration and notification law constitutes retroactive punishment forbidden by the *Ex Post Facto* Clause of the United States Constitution. The Court acknowledged that the framework for this inquiry is well established:

We must "ascertain whether the legislature meant the statute to establish 'civil' proceedings." *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 361, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997). If the intention of the legislature was to impose punishment, that ends the inquiry. If, however, the intention was to enact a regulatory scheme that is civil and nonpunitive, we must further examine whether the statutory

scheme is "'so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate [the State's] intention' to deem it 'civil.' "Ibid. (quoting United States v. Ward, 448 U.S. 242, 248–249, 100 S.Ct. 2636, 65 L.Ed.2d 742 (1980)). Because we "ordinarily defer to the legislature's stated intent," Hendricks, supra, at 361, 117 S.Ct. 2072, "'only the clearest proof' will suffice to override legislative intent and transform what has been denominated a civil remedy into a criminal penalty," Hudson v. United States, 522 U.S. 93, 100, 118 S.Ct. 488, 139 L.Ed.2d 450 (1997) (quoting Ward, supra, at 249, 100 S.Ct. 2636); see also Hendricks, supra, at 361, 117 S.Ct. 2072; United States v. Ursery, 518 U.S. 267, 290, 116 S.Ct. 2135, 135 L.Ed.2d 549 (1996); United States v. One Assortment of 89 Firearms, 465 U.S. 354, 365, 104 S.Ct. 1099, 79 L.Ed.2d 361 (1984).

Smith, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S.Ct. at 1146-1147.

In *State v. Johnson*, 152 Idaho 41, 266 P.3d 1146 (2011), the Idaho Supreme Court stated with approval, the Legislature's classification of Johnson's offense as an "aggravated offense," subsequent to his guilty plea, was an exception to the general understanding that SORA is nonpunitive. As Groves notes properly, the Idaho Supreme Court did not directly hold; whether SORA violated the *Ex Post Facto* Clause, i.e.; whether despite the legislature's stated intent was remedial in nature; or whether the effects of SORA were so clearly punitive that they overrode the Legislature's stated purpose. *Johnson*, 152 Idaho at 45, 266 P.3d at 1150.

Johnson did, however, unequivocally describe how the Idaho Supreme Court viewed the exact question raised by Groves in the present case. The Court in Johnson, based its view by basing its stamp of approval upon the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Smith v. Doe and the Idaho Court of Appeals decision in State v. Gragg, 143 Idaho 74, 137 P.3d 461 (Ct.App. 2005). The Idaho Court of Appeals in Gragg, aligned its determination with the U.S. Supreme Court's reasoning in Smith v. Doe. The Smith Court made its ex post facto analysis of Alaska's sex offender registration law upon the seven factor "intent-effects" test from Kennedy v.

Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144, 168-169, 83 S.Ct. 554, 9 L.Ed.2d 644 (1963).

Groves further advances assertions under the *Kennedy-Mendoza* seven factors test.

Appellant's Brief at 14-16. In support of his claim he cites to an Alaska Supreme Court's decision in *Smith v. Doe*, 189 P.3d 999 (2008). *Id.* The Alaska Supreme Court based its decision, not on the U. S. Constitution or the Idaho Constitution, but rather on Alaska's Constitution. Even then, the Alaska Supreme Court acknowledged that the federal courts had found no *ex post facto* violation under the United States Constitution. *Smith*, 189 P.3d at 1002.

The Idaho Supreme Court, in recognizing the uniqueness of Idaho's Constitution, held "Article I, § 16 of the Idaho Constitution provides, in relevant part: 'No ... ex post facto law ... shall ever be passed.' Similarly, Article I, § 10, cl. 1, of the United States Constitution prohibits a state from passing an 'ex post facto law.'

Our state Supreme Court has recognized that the two constitutional provisions may not necessarily be of the same scope or subject to exactly the same interpretation. *See Quinlan v. Idaho Commission for Pardons and Parole*, 138 Idaho 726, 731, 69 P.3d 146, 151 (2003); *State v. Lindquist*, 99 Idaho 766, 769, 589 P.2d 101, 104 (1979).

However, our appellate courts have traditionally cited the two constitutional provisions together without "recognition of the possibility of a difference in scope or analysis." *State v. Gragg*, 143 Idaho 74, 75, 137 P.3d 461, 462 (Ct. App. 2005). As stated before, it is

⁷ Citing Lovelace, 140 Idaho at 77, 90 P.3d at 302; State v. O'Neill, 118 Idaho 244, 246–47, 796 P.2d 121, 123–24 (1990); State v. Mee, 102 Idaho 474, 483, 632 P.2d 663, 672 (1981), overruled on other grounds by State v. Elisondo, 114 Idaho 412, 757 P.2d 675 (1988); State v. Byers, 102 Idaho 159, 166, 627 P.2d 788, 795 (1981); Wolf v. State, 99 Idaho 476, 480, 583 P.2d 1011, 1015 (1978); State v. Nickerson, 132 Idaho 406, 411–12, 973 P.2d 758, 763–64 (Ct.App.1999); LaFon v. State, 119 Idaho 387, 389, 807 P.2d 66, 68 (Ct.App.1991); Mellinger v. Idaho

instrumental to note that the Idaho Supreme Court declared, "The Court of Appeals opinion in *Gragg* is thoughtful and its holding is correct." *State v. Johnson*, 152 Idaho 41, 45, 266 P.3d 1146, 1150 (2011).

1. Affirmative Disability or Restraint.

Groves' claims an affirmative disability or restraint upon him as: "restrained from changing residences or employment" ... "compels post discharge conduct (mandating registration, re-registration, disclosure of public and private information, and updating of that information) under threat of prosecution" ... "the duties are significant and intrusive, because they compel offenders to contact law enforcement agencies and disclose information, some of which is otherwise private, most of it for public dissemination" ... "the time associated with SORA are intrusive," and that "SORA exposes registrants, through aggressive public notification of their crimes, to profound humiliation and community-wide ostracism." *See generally*, Appellant's Brief.

Groves' claim is unpersuasive for three reasons. First, he fails to give recognition to IDAHO CODE § 18-8326, which was enacted to protect him from the harm he alleges. This statute balances the interests of the offender with that of the state.

Secondly, in *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S.Ct. 1140 (2003), the United States Supreme found the same argument Groves' is making to be unpersuasive:

The Act imposes no physical restraint, and so does not resemble the punishment of imprisonment, which is the paradigmatic affirmative disability or restraint.

Department of Corrections, 114 Idaho 494, 498, 757 P.2d 1213, 1217 (Ct.App.1988); State v. Scroggie, 110 Idaho 103, 113, 714 P.2d 72, 82 (Ct.App.1986); Almada v. State, 108 Idaho 221, 224, 697 P.2d 1235, 1238 (Ct.App.1985)."

Hudson, 522 U.S., at 104, 118 S.Ct. 488. The Act's obligations are less harsh than the sanctions of occupational debarment, which we have held to be nonpunitive. See *ibid*. (forbidding further participation in the banking industry); *De Veau v. Braisted*, 363 U.S. 144, 80 S.Ct. 1146, 4 L.Ed.2d 1109 (1960) (forbidding work as a union official); *Hawker v. New York*, 170 U.S. 189, 18 S.Ct. 573, 42 L.Ed. 1002 (1898) (revocation of a medical license). The Act does not restrain activities sex offenders may pursue but leaves them free to change jobs or residences.

The [9th Circuit] Court of Appeals sought to distinguish *Hawker* and cases which have followed it on the grounds that the disability at issue there was specific and "narrow," confined to particular professions, whereas "the procedures employed under the Alaska statute are likely to make [respondents] *completely unemployable*" because "employers will not want to risk loss of business when the public learns that they have hired sex offenders." 259 F.3d, at 988. This is conjecture. Landlords and employers could conduct background checks on the criminal records of prospective employees or tenants even with the Act not in force. The record in this case contains no evidence that the Act has led to substantial occupational or housing disadvantages for former sex offenders that would not have otherwise occurred through the use of routine background checks by employers and landlords.

Although the public availability of the information may have a lasting and painful impact on the convicted sex offender, these consequences flow not from the Act's registration and dissemination provisions, but from the fact of conviction, already a matter of public record. The State makes the facts underlying the offenses and the resulting convictions accessible so members of the public can take the precautions they deem necessary before dealing with the registrant.

Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. at 100-101.

Finally, IDAHO CODE §§ 18-8306 and 18-8307, provides when and where a person convicted of a certain type of sex offense must register. According to these statutes Groves is only required to appear in person before the county sheriff, of the county in which he resides, once per year (unless he was to move). IDAHO CODE § 18-8307(c). This slight imposition hardly compares to the burden of someone who may be facing a criminal restitution order for supporting five (5) minor children on a monthly basis, until each child turned 18 years of age. *Cf.*

State v. Heredia, 144 Idaho 95 (Idaho 2007).

This Court should not only follow the holding of *Smith v. Doe* in finding that Groves' claim of disability or restraint is without merit, but that his claim is even more meritless because the duty to register is nothing more than a slight imposition. And besides, there are consequences for those who engage in vigilantism against sex-offenders.

Groves erroneously asserts, that the legislature created a new class of sex offenders by amending IDAHO CODE § 18-8303(1). *See*, Appellant's Brief, p. 6. Groves' pins his assertion on *Smith v. State*, 146 Idaho 822, 827, 203 P.3d 1221 (2009). *Id.* at 21. However, the state has not made a factual determination that Groves, as an individual sex offender, poses a high risk of committing an offense or will engage in predatory sexual conduct, as was the case of the violent sexual predator designation in *Smith v. State*, 146 Idaho 822, 828, 203 P.3d 1221, 1227 (2009). Groves' duty to register as a sex offender is triggered simply and exclusively by reason of his conviction of the specified crime of Lewd Conduct With A Minor Under Sixteen, IDAHO CODE § 18-1508, a crime that the Idaho legislature has designated as an aggravated offense. IDAHO CODE § 18-8303(1).

The Idaho Supreme Court further cited with approval, *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 92, (2003) when the Court discussed whether or not if the burden of a life-time sex offender registration requirement was in violation of an offender's right to due process. The Court stated:

The Ex Post Facto Clause does not preclude a State from making reasonable categorical judgments that conviction of specified crimes should entail particular regulatory consequences." Id. at 103, 123 S.Ct. at 1153, 155 L.Ed.2d at 184. The U.S. Supreme Court has dismissed ex post facto claims "imposing regulatory burdens on individuals convicted of crimes without any corresponding risk

assessment." Id. at 104, 123 S.Ct. at 1153, 155 L.Ed.2d at 184. Moreover, "[t]he State's determination to legislate with respect to convicted sex offenders as a class, rather than require individual determination of their dangerousness, does not make the statute a punishment under the Ex Post Facto Clause." Id. The fact that a sexual offender, convicted of a certain class of crime, may be required to register for life is not so punitive that it overrides SORA's regulatory purpose. This is particularly so because the Legislature need not make particularized findings in the regulatory context.

State v. Johnson, 152 Idaho 41, 45-46 (Idaho 2011). (emphasis added).

- 2. Sanctions that have historically been considered punishment; and
- 3. Comparison to probation or supervised release.

Groves concedes that "SORA does not expressly impose sanctions that have been historically been considered punishment" and that "courts addressing this issue have determined that there is no historical equivalent to these registration acts."

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